
 

FINAL 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
of the 

HARRIS CHAIN OF LAKES RESTORATION COUNCIL 
 

June 6, 2008 
 
The regular meeting of the Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council (Council) was held at 9:00 
AM on June 6, 2008 at the Lake County Board of County Commissioners’ Chambers, 315 West 
Main Street, Tavares, Florida. 
 
Members Present Members Absent 
Hugh (Dave) Davis II, Chairman    Keith Farner 
Skip Goerner, Vice Chairman     Don Nicholson 
Rick Powers, P.G., Secretary     Edward M. Schlein, M.D. 
Robert Kaiser, P.E.      Jon VanderLey 
Richard Royal 
 
1.  CALL TO ORDER  
 
Chairman Dave Davis called the meeting to order at 9:00 AM.   
 
2.  INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
An Invocation was given by Councilman Bob Kaiser, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.   
 
3.  ROLL CALL 
 
Chairman Davis called roll.  Councilmen Keith Farner, Don Nicholson, Ed Schlein, and Jon 
VanderLey were absent. 
 
4.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Chairman Davis called for a discussion of the May meeting minutes.  Patrick Hunter, Recording 
Secretary of the Council explained that a few minor edits to the minutes were suggested by 
Barbara Bess of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) and member of the 
Technical Advisory Group (TAG) to the Council.   The edits were accepted and no further edits 
were suggested.  The May meeting minutes were approved by unanimous vote. 
 
5.  PRESENTATIONS / ACTION ITEMS 

FY 2007-08 Expenditures for restoration in the Lake Apopka and the Harris Chain of 
Lakes Basins; Dave Walker, SJRWMD 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 2 of 18 

 

 

Dave Walker, Senior Project Manager with the St. Johns River Water Management District 
(SJRWMD) provided the Council a handout with the breakdown of expenditures for Fiscal Year 
(FY) 2007-08 for restoration projects within the District.  A copy of the handout is provided in 
Attachment 1 of these minutes. 
 

- Three different programs are outlined including the Ocklawaha River Basin, Upper 
Ocklawaha River Basin, and Lake Apopka Basin. 

 
- The original budgets were amended to include additional funds for some of the specific 

projects. 
 

- The majority of the funds for the Lake Apopka North Shore Restoration Area (NSRA) 
are for the soil inversion project and construction. 

 
Councilman Richard Royal asked if the costs associated with pumping are included in the 
expenditures.  Mr. Walker explained that due to the limited rainfall, very little water is being 
pumped from the NSRA.  He also noted that electric pumps are utilized at the Lake Apopka 
Marsh Flow-way (LAMF) with the cost of electricity being $10,000 – $20,000 per month, which 
is actually part of the Public Works budget. 
 
Councilman Royal also asked what other expenses are included in the Public Works budget.  Mr. 
Walker said the Vegetation Management and Property Maintenance in the NSRA are included in 
that budget.  He added that once the soil inversion is complete, the vegetation management will 
no longer be necessary. 
 
Secretary Rick Powers asked if the approximate $18 million budget is fairly typical for these 
areas.  Mr. Walker explained the expenditures have been a little higher over the past three years 
due to the construction at Sunnyhill, Harris Bayou, and the work at the NSRA.  He said the work 
at Lake Apopka should be completed in the next two fiscal years; therefore the construction costs 
will go down. 
 
Vice (V.) Chairman Skip Goerner asked for greater detail of the expenditures, like those for 
“Contractual Support.”  Mr. Walker explained that Contractual Support includes research, 
sampling, and laboratory analysis, and offered to provide the complete budget.  
 
Councilman Kaiser asked if the “Salaries and Wages” outlined are those of the SJRWMD 
personnel.  Mr. Walker said yes. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner noted the current budget is over $17 million and does not include any 
expenditures for dredging.  He said that once the construction projects are complete; possibly 
some funds may become available of dredging projects.  Mr. Walker said that with the 
completion of some of the construction projects in the basin, the budgets will be smaller in the 
next FY.   
 
V. Chairman Goerner requested a copy of last year’s budget for these restoration expenditures so 
it can be reviewed in greater detail.  Councilman Powers said the budget was available online. 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 3 of 18 

 

 

Mr. Walker said the figures presented in the handout may be higher than the budgets posted 
online due to budget amendments, mostly for the construction projects. 
 
Nancy Christman, Senior Intergovernmental Coordinator with the SJRWMD and Council 
representative said that she would send the complete budget to the Council via email. 
 
Fish Habitat at Hickory Point; Mike Perry, LCWA  
 
Mike Perry, Executive Director of the Lake County Water Authority (LCWA) and member of 
the TAG provided information on improving fishery habitat around Lake County. 
 

- Gravel beds previously placed near the pier on Lake Eustis seemed to attract more fish 
and anglers, so possibly the Council could consider providing funds from its Habitat 
Restoration funding for gravel beds at Hickory Point on Lake Harris.  Other areas which 
may benefit from gravel beds include Venetian Gardens and Singletary Park.  Mr. Perry 
did not have any specific costs and just wanted to determine the Council’s interest in this 
effort. 

 
Councilman Kaiser said he believes it would be a good idea if it generates more interest in the 
lakes. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner said that anything the Council could do to bring more people, especially 
children, to the lakes and enhance their experience would be beneficial.  He suggested that Dr. 
Dan Canfield of the University of Florida (UF) and member of the TAG might be a good source 
for information about this effort.  V. Chairman Goerner asked Mr. Perry to provide some costs 
for placing gravel beds at Hickory Point.  Mr. Perry said he would provide more details and costs 
that would include the three locations he suggested. 
 
Councilman Royal said he also believes it would be a good idea and may draw more people to 
the lake when visiting Hickory Point Park. 
 
Jason Dotson, a Biologist with the Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission (FWCC) 
noted that Lake Harris currently has an underutilized red-eared sunfish (Lepomis microlophus) 
fishery and this would be a great opportunity to attract more people to the lake. 
 
Councilman Royal asked why gravel beds attract fish.  Mr. Dotson explained the beds provide 
cover and are great areas for sunfish to spawn, which they do several times throughout the 
Summer. 
 
Phosphorus-free fertilizers / Urban Turf Rule; Mike Perry, LCWA 
 
Mr. Perry also provided a presentation on low or no phosphorus fertilizers and the new Urban 
Turf Rule.  Highlights of his presentation are presented below and the complete presentation in 
included as Attachment 2. 
 

• Low or No Phosphorus Fertilizer 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 4 of 18 

 

 

 
- LCWA is discussing a possible resolution for Lake County to pass an ordinance. 

 
• Issue 

 
- Elevated concentrations of phosphate containing compounds in the lake systems are 

influenced by runoff from lawns. 
 

• Background 
 

- A United States Geological Survey (USGS) study in Wisconsin found that lawns and 
streets contribute about 80% of the total and dissolved phosphorus runoff from 
residential areas with lawns contributing more than streets. 

- Another USGS study found that median phosphorus [concentration] from regularly 
fertilized sites was twice that of unfertilized or non-phosphorus sites. 

- Runoff from lawns with non-phosphorus fertilizer applications had a median total 
phosphorus concentration similar to that of unfertilized lawns. 

- Indications are that non-phosphorus fertilizers may be an effective, low cost practice 
for reducing phosphorus in runoff. 

 
• Lake County Soils 

 
- No records are kept of the percentages of Lake County lawns with high levels of 

phosphorus. 
- Phosphorus is found naturally in Lake County soils and because of its affinity to 

remain bound to the soils, phosphorus application would rarely be necessary to 
maintain a healthy lawn. 

- Surveys suggested that 70% of all lawns are fertilized regardless of whether nutrients 
are needed.  The surveys do not include Florida. 

 
• States and communities that have banned the use of fertilizers include: Maine; 

Minnesota; Ann Arbor, Michigan; Maryland; New Jersey; Antioch, Illinois; and 
Wisconsin. 

 
- In these areas fertilizers with phosphorus can be applied if soil tests show the need. 
- Application of phosphorus fertilizers on new lawns is allowed for the establishment 

of root growth. 
 

• State of Florida’s Efforts 
 

- There were no laws restricting phosphate in fertilizers within the State until the end of 
last year. 

- The Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (FDACS) 
implemented a rule for fertilizers labeled for use on lawns.  Rule 5E-1.003(2) 
(Fact sheets and other information provided by Mr. Perry are included in Attachment 
3.) 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 5 of 18 

 

 

- Manufacturers of lawn and turf fertilizers must include a label that indicates the 
maximum amount of phosphorus and nitrogen that should be applied to a 1,000 
square foot (sq.ft.) area of lawn. 
o The slogan of “Zero in the middle” refers to the nitrogen-phosphorus-potash 

ratios of contents labeling for fertilizers and the product should contain no 
phosphorus. 

o These fertilizers cannot contain over a determined percentage of phosphorus if 
described as being low phosphorus. 

 
- The Florida Legislature created a Consumer Fertilizer Task Force 

o Support the FDACS labeling requirements for urban turf fertilizers. 
o Expand the Commercial Landscape Maintenance Certification to include fertilizer 

Best Management Practices (BMPs) and requiring additional training and 
certifications. 

o Provide a model ordinance for local government use if they meet one of several 
criteria. 

o Support the FDACS labeling requirements for urban turf fertilizers. 
o Support public education regarding fertilizer use. 
o Support ongoing and future research on fertilizer leaching and runoff. 
o Provide a dedicated funding source for education and training. 

  
Councilman Royal noted that rules were already in place which govern BMPs for fertilizer use 
on agricultural properties and sports facilities, while the new rule targets residential and urban 
properties.   
 
Councilman Royal offered his opinion of success by saying the Consumer Fertilizer Task Force 
did a good job limiting the amount of phosphate that can be applied to 0.25 pound per 1,000 
sq.ft. per application, and no more than 0.5 pounds per year.  He said urban turf fertilizers are 
moving towards 0% to 2% phosphate content. 
 
Mr. Perry agreed and continued with his presentation; 
 

• Local Ordinances within Florida 
 

- Lee and Sarasota Counties and the City of Naples adopted the FDACS model 
ordinance requiring: 
o All professional applicators be registered with the County; 
o Buffer zones near waterways, requiring training; and 
o Applicators follow the new label requirements.   
o They also adopted penalties for those applicators who don’t comply with the 

ordinance. 
 

- Communities with ordinances related to application of fertilizer in some way; 
o St. Johns County 
o Marion County 
o Martin County 

 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 6 of 18 

 

 

o Village of Wellington 
o City of Sanibel 
o City of Crystal River 

 
• Financial Issues 

 
- The ordinance as recommended by FDACS, has added cost due to the increase in 

bureaucracy needed to regulate and train applicators and provide enforcement. 
- While the Minnesota phosphorus free law is the most stringent, it is also the least 

expensive to implement because it assumes its citizens will do the right thing.  With 
an 82% success rate, it appears that for the most part they do. 

- Implementing a similar statewide program in Florida may be far more difficult due to 
the resulting financial impacts to a very large phosphate mining industry. 

- A local countywide ordinance would certainly benefit our waterbodies but may also 
face outside political and mining opposition. 

 
Councilman Royal said he believes the State rule by the FDACS is sufficient and additional 
ordinances are not needed.  He suggested that funds would be better spent on education efforts. 
 
Chairman Davis asked about the phosphorus concentration of reclaimed water and whether it is 
higher than allowed by the new rule.  Mr. Perry said he was not certain but it is higher than in 
potable water.  He also noted that one of the State rules says if reclaimed water is used for 
irrigation, [supplemental] fertilizers should not be used. 
 
Councilman Royal said the State rule limits the amount of phosphate that can be applied 
annually and people should know if they have reclaimed water for irrigation, that less fertilizer is 
required.  He reiterated that education is key. 
 
Chairman Davis suggested if the phosphorus from irrigating with reclaimed water exceeds 0.5 
pound per year, they should quit watering with it.  Mr. Perry said part of the education efforts 
should include homeowners having their soil tested at a local Department of Agriculture office 
for only $7.00, to determine the nutrient content. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner asked if Councilman Royal saw any benefit for supporting local 
ordinances to reduce phosphorus in urban fertilizers.  Councilman Royal said it is all covered in 
the State rule and there needs to be more education for homeowners.  He suggested the LCWA, 
the [Florida Yards and Neighborhoods (FYN)] – Master Gardner Program, and possibly the 
[Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS)] – Soil Conservation Service (SCS) may be 
able to assist with the education efforts. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner said that offering education has not proven to be effective in reducing 
nutrients flowing into the area lakes and possibly limiting the availability of fertilizers containing 
phosphorus would be more effective.  Councilman Royal stated that high phosphorus phosphate 
fertilizers will become less available in stores over the coming months because of the State rule. 
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 7 of 18 

 

 

Councilman Powers suggested that perhaps the Council should offer a consensus to support the 
State rule, then maintain a “wait and see” posture as the State law takes effect. 
 
Chairman Davis suggested that if high phosphorus fertilizers will no longer be available, then 
education may not be necessary.  He said it is much like when phosphates were banned in 
detergents 40 years ago; everyone adjusted. 
 
The Council agreed to support the State rule and take a “wait and see” posture for changes in the 
industry. 
 
Brush Pile Habitat; Jason Dotson, FWCC 
 
Mr. Dotson introduced Adam Charlton, a Fisheries Biologist with the FWCC who gave a 
presentation on Brush Pile Habitat Enhancement.  Highlights of his presentation are provided 
below and the complete presentation is included as Attachment 4. 
 

• Project Design 
 

- Original design was one, 50 acre attractor 
o To increase fish productivity 

  
- New design is five (5) acres total with 5, one acre sites 

o Increase angler catch rates of large mouth bass (LMB) and black crappie 
 
- Provides more “edge effect” 

 
- Provides more angler opportunity  

 
- Lake Harris was chosen over Lake Dora to minimize the number of fish relocated 

during fishing tournaments. 
 

• Project Components 
 

- Material 
o Woody debris  
o Lake County Landfill 

Will provide select brush/trimmings 
2”-4” woody debris  
Will transport to staging site at no cost 

 
o Contractors responsible for concrete block and rope/anchoring material 

 
Councilman Kaiser asked what kind of rope would be used, saying nylon may not be good for 
the environment.  He also asked what the life span of the attractors would be.  Mr. Charlton said 
he is not sure about the type of rope and noted that an attractor placed six years ago in Lake Weir 
is still in operation, and continued with his presentation; 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 8 of 18 

 

 

 
- Staging Area 

o Potential use of Hickory Point Recreation Facility 
Easy access, close to Lake County Landfill 
Must be voted on by board members 

 

 
 

- Permits 
o He will be meeting with the FDEP on June 25th to discuss project details and 

permit requirements. 
 

• How much will it cost  
 

- Rough estimates from conversations with contractors indicate $88,000 - $200,000 
- FWCC estimates approximately $100,000 

 
• Potential Attractor Locations 
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 9 of 18 

 

 

 
 
Chairman Davis expressed his concern that the attractors would not be placed over any springs 
that discharge within the lake.  Mr. Charlton said they will research the possible locations in the 
lake and not cover up any springs.  He added that placing an attractor near a spring may help 
produce a hybrid striped bass (Morone saxatilis) fishery and continued with his presentation; 
 

• Potential Funding 
 

- Bass Anglers Sportsman Society (B.A.S.S.) 
o They are very excited about the concept of the project 

- National Fish and Wildlife Foundation 
o National Fish Habitat Action Plan 

More Fish Campaign 
- Harris Council 

 
Chairman Davis leaves the meeting at 10:30 AM. 
Councilman Kaiser made a motion that the Council continue the meeting as a “Committee as a 
Whole” which was approved by a unanimous decision. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner said the Council may have some funding available for the project and 
might seek partnerships with the LCWA and Lake County for additional funding. 
 
Councilman Kaiser said he is excited about this concept as it may be expanded for use in other 
lakes.  He also asked if any maintenance is required on the attractors. 

5 miles 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 10 of 18 

 

 

 
Mr. Charlton explained that maintenance may be performed every one to five years and could 
include enhancement of the attractors and continued with his presentation; 
 

- National Fish and Wildlife Foundation - National Fish Habitat Action Plan 
More Fish Campaign 
o “In 2006 the Foundation joined federal and state agencies, and other conservation 

organizations to establish the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (Plan).  The Plan 
will coordinate efforts on a national level to reverse the losses in fish, aquatic 
species, and habitat across the U.S.” 

o “The Foundation’s More Fish Campaign complements and supports the National 
Fish and Habitat Action Plan by investing in “on the ground” projects 
demonstrating innovative approaches to fish habitat conservation” 

o Similar projects funded with Arkansas Fish and Game, and Missouri Department 
of Conservation 

 
• Where we go from here 
 

- Meeting with FDEP about permits 
- Meeting with Hickory Point Board members about staging site use 
- Securing appropriate funds 
- Addressing feasibility of workload for involved FWCC employees 
- Bringing in local angler and professional angler knowledge on attractor placement 

 
V. Chairman Goerner noted that recreational fishing is a $1.25 billion per year industry.  Mr. 
Dotson added that fish attractors will provide a positive economic return for the area.  He further 
explained the FWCC determined that out-of-state freshwater anglers spend an average of $42 per 
hour fishing where in-state anglers spend $20 to $25 per hour.   
 
Agency Updates 
 
Walt Godwin, Environmental Scientist VI with the SJRWMD, provided the following update to 
the Council; 
 

- Water quality graphs were provided as handouts and are provided in Attachment 5. 
o There has been some slight degradation in the lakes due to the current drought.  These 

conditions should be reversed when water levels come up. 
o Lake Apopka has seen the greatest increase in phosphorus concentrations due to the 

low water conditions. 
o Included is a graph of phosphorus and solids retention in the LAMF. 

 
- Construction has been completed in the Harris Bayou 

o Alum treatment in the bayou should be completed in two weeks. 
 

- Construction of the discharge channel in the Emeralda Marsh has been completed. 
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 11 of 18 

 

 

Councilman Powers asked if the removal of Total Suspended Solids (TSS) for Lake Apopka 
water by the LAMF is 30,000 to 40,000 kilograms (kg) per day and if so, how long before the 
flow-way will fill up.  Mr. Godwin said yes and that the flow-way is designed so they can shut 
down an individual cell for maintenance while the other cells continue to operate. 
 
Mr. Hunter asked if Mr. Godwin will be a permanent replacement for Dr. Larry Battoe on the 
TAG.  Mr. Godwin said yes. 
 
Mr. Perry (LCWA) provided the following updates to the Council; 
 

- The City of Apopka has requested a 90-day extension of the abeyance on the proposed 
Consumptive Use Permit (CUP) to review the option of withdrawing water from the 
NSRA after restoration is complete; as opposed to withdrawing water directly from the 
lake.  
o Changes to the LCWA Board of Trustees (Board) in November prior to a final vote 

on the matter 
 

- LCWA draft budget will be presented to the Board in June and a budget workshop will 
be held in July. 
o The draft budget includes $40,000 in funding for operation of the Council 

 
- The Lake Griffin Access Canal Dredging project is currently working in the last canal 

 
- The Lake Beauclair Nutrient Reduction Facility (NuRF) construction is moving along 

o Operation of the facility is expected to begin in January 2009 
o Lake [water] levels continue to go down and are below minimum desirable on all the 

lakes in the Harris Chain 
 
V. Chairman Goerner asked about the status of the proposed disposal site for the Lake Beauclair 
dredging project.  Mr. Perry explained that no formal decisions have been made and he has been 
directed by the LCWA Board to discuss the matter with the SJRWMD.  Mr. Walker concurred 
there had been no formal discussions on the location of the disposal site. 
 
Mr. Perry also explained that the LCWA had set aside an additional $1 million from their FY 
2008-09 budget for the Lake Beauclair project which brings the total funding reserved to $9 
million.  He reminded the Council that preliminary estimates for the dredging of 1.5 million 
cubic yards is $15 million, therefore it may be two or three more fiscal years before all the 
necessary funding will become available. 
 
Barbara Bess, a Watershed Management Coordinator with the FDEP provided the following 
update to the Council; 
 

- There will be a meeting with the FWCC regarding the fish attractors later in June. 
o The District Director and Program Administrator will be invited to attend the 

meeting. 
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 12 of 18 

 

 

Mr. Dotson said that he has been primarily working on the fish attractor project however; as an 
update to the Council from the FWCC he said that all the Spring creel counts are complete and 
they are in the process of analyzing the data. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner mentioned an angler report stating that he had caught a tagged bass in 
Lake Griffin that was stocked in 2005.  He said the bass was three pounds when relocated to the 
lake and is currently nine pounds. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner also noted that a recent electro-fishing event in Lake Dora conducted by 
the UF indicated that 22% of the bass captured were tagged [stocked/relocated] fish. 
 
Mr. Dotson said the Spring electro-fishing event estimates approximately 10% to 12% of the fish 
captured were tagged. 
 
6.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
V. Chairman Goerner made a call for public comments.  No public comments were made. 
 
 
7.  COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
V. Chairman Goerner made a call for Council member comments. 
 
Councilman Kaiser made a suggestion that during periods of low dissolved oxygen (D.O.) in the 
Summer, barges outfitted with solar panels and small aeration pumps could be placed in the lake 
to improve oxygen content.  Mr. Charlton noted that he had recently heard of a piece of 
equipment during an agency-wide update called the Solar Bee.  He explained it is a self-
sustained unit costing $40,000 and is used to help mix water which may improve oxygen levels. 
 
Mr. Godwin noted that he has seen good D.O. levels and doesn’t consider it to be a problem in 
the Harris Chain. 
 
Councilman Royal expressed his appreciation of the FWCC efforts for researching the fish 
attractors. 
 
V. Chairman Goerner said the Council should have a decision on their current Legislative 
funding request within the next week or so.  He added that the request was not identified on a list 
of funding which would not be approved. 
 
Discussion of August 1, 2008 Meeting 

It had been previously decided that the July council meeting would be cancelled due to the 4th of 
July holiday. 
 
No discussion was held on the August meeting.  Topics previously discussed during the May 
Council meeting included; 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – June 6, 2008 
Page 13 of 18 

 

 

 
- General discussion of muck removal, primarily in the canals, that would include the 

previously Genesis mucking process, the FWCC project on Lake Trafford, and others. 
 
- Councilman Powers said he could provide a report written by BCI Engineers and 

Scientists for the SJRWMD, on all the latest dredging techniques available. 
 

- Continued discussion on stocking with hatchery fish. 
 

- A presentation on alum treatment by Dr. Harvey Harper. 
 
8.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:10 AM. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Chairman Dave Davis II 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Secretary Rick Powers 



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Attachment 1 
 
 

FY 2007-08 Expenditures for Restoration in the Lake Apopka 
 

 and the Upper Ocklawaha River Basin Handout 
 
 

Dave Walker – SJRWMD 
 

June 2008 







 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 2 
 
 

Low or No Phosphorus 
 

Fertilizer Presentation 
 
 

Mike Perry – LCWA 
 

June 2008 
 
 


